

Journal of Chromatography B, 771 (2002) 131-153

JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY B

www.elsevier.com/locate/chromb

Review

Separation and identification of human heart proteins

D. Jäger^{a,*}, P.R. Jungblut^b, U. Müller-Werdan^a

^aDepartment of Medicine III, Martin-Luther University, Halle-Wittenberg, Germany ^bMax-Planck Institute of Infection Biology, Berlin, Germany

Abstract

Heart failure is not a uniform disease entity, but a syndrome with various causes, including hypertension, ischemia and congenital heart disease, cardiomyopathy, myocarditis and intoxication. During the recent years a number of molecular and cellular alterations have been identified in the diseased heart, but a direct causative link between these changes and functional impairment, medical responsiveness, progression of the disease and the patients' outcome remains to be established. After an accumulation of large amounts of DNA sequence data in genomic projects, scientists have now turned their attention to the central executors of all programs of life, the proteins. In complementation of the genomic initiatives, proteomics based approaches have lined up not only for large-scale identification of proteins and regulatory and signalling cascades in the cellular network. In concert with genomic data functional proteomics will hold the key for a better understanding and therapeutical management of cardiovascular diseases in the future. © 2002 Elsevier Science B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Reviews; Proteomics; Dilated cardiomyopathy; Human heart proteins; Eucaryotic elongation factor-2

Contents

1.	Introduction	132
	1.1. From genomics to proteomics	132
2.	Methods of proteomics	133
	2.1. Sample preparation	133
	2.2. Sample prefractionation (subproteomics)	134
	2.3. Protein separation	135
	2.3.1. Two-dimensional SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)	135
	2.3.2. Complementary protein separation methods	136
	2.4. Protein detection	137
	2.5. Image analysis	138
	2.6. Protein identification	138
	2.6.1. Protein electroblotting and Edman sequencing	139
	2.6.2. Mass spectrometric peptide mapping and protein identification	139
3.	Proteomics of the heart	140

*Corresponding author. Tel.: +49-345-557-4545; fax: +49-345-557-4546. *E-mail address:* doris.jaeger@medizin.uni-halle.de (D. Jäger).

1570-0232/02/\$ – see front matter $\hfill \hfill \hf$

3.1. Heart 2-DE protein databases	140
3.2. Proteomics of dilated cardiomyopathy	141
3.3. Proteomic results of other human heart or vascular diseases	145
3.4. Animal models of cardiac diseases	145
3.5. Proteomics of cultured cardiac myocytes	146
3.6. Posttranslational modifications and functional proteomics of human heart diseases	147
3.7. Special problems encountered with proteomics of human heart diseases	148
4. Concluding remarks	148
References	149

1. Introduction

1.1. From genomics to proteomics

The basis for proteomic investigations of the human heart [1,2] was set long before the completion of the nucleotide sequence of the human genome [3]. Now the fundamental work on the functional macromolecules important for the understanding of life is gaining more interest. Direct comparison of transcriptomic data with the corresponding proteome data showed clear differences between the transcriptome and the proteome [4,5]. This is obvious from theory, because the transcriptome mainly contains genomic information, whereas the proteome is to a much greater extent imprinted by environmental influences. The genome is, relative to the proteome, more static, and the impact of the environment increases from genome over transcriptome to proteome. Within the proteome it depends on the visualization method, if genetic or environmental influences are to be analyzed. Radioactive labelling allows the view on the protein synthesis situation, where the environmental influences are reduced. roughly representing protein expression. Staining of protein patterns from two-dimensional gels detects the composition of all present proteins, independently from time of their synthesis and including all modifications during their lifetime. Because of modified proteins arising from alternative splicing of transcripts, RNA editing or extensive posttranslational processing [6,7], it is apparent that the paradigm of one gene encoding one protein is no longer tenable. Therefore the functional complexity of an organism can only be dissected and understood when genomic and proteomic tools are used in concert [6-9]. For example it has been shown that one

protein may be modified into up to 59 protein species as exemplified for Hsp27 in human heart [10]. The term protein species was defined as the smallest unit of the proteome by its chemical structure [11]. Therefore, a one-fold and a two-fold phosphorylated myosin light chain I are two different protein species of the protein MLCI.

The genome of an individual can be completely sequenced. Meanwhile it was shown that proteomics can help to confirm and even complete the inventory of genes obtained by open reading frame prediction programs [12]. The proteome of an individual can never be complete, because it is time-dependent, and this leads to a continuous change during lifetime, resulting in an infinite number of proteomes per individual. To detect disease-associated protein species by comparison of tissue samples it is therefore necessary to compare many independent sample preparations of many individuals to have the chance to detect proteomic signatures as defined by van Bogelen et al. [13]. Proteomics may provide us with information never before imaginable, but proper design of the study and excellent bioinformatic tools are paramount [7].

The milestones for the meanwhile classical approach of proteomics were the development of 2-DE [14,15], protein sequencing [16], mass spectrometry (MS) using peptide mass fingerprinting [17] and sequence tags [18]. Up to 10 000 protein species can be resolved by high-resolution 2-DE [19] with a sensitivity of some molecules per cell using radio-labelling, or of ng protein amounts detected by silver staining. These tools are prerequisites for a hypothesis-free approach to biological questions. On the basis of an inventory of molecules on the protein level (e.g. heart proteins) [20,21] and the mRNA level [22,23], the apparent information gap between

the genome and the cellular processes in heart physiology and pathophysiology might be closed [24].

In 1995 the term proteome was defined [25], and the promise that proteomics can give insight into the functioning of a cell now is fascinating the life science community. New proteomic techniques are arising continuously, like immunoproteomics [26], molecular scanner to automate proteomic research [27], multidimensional chromatography/MS/MS coupling [28,29], chip technologies [30] using affinity materials [31], antigens [32,33], antibodies or aptamers [34-37], subfractionation in organelles and complexes [38-41] and two-hybrid systems [42,43]. The multidimensional chromatography/MS/MS approach aims at a complete resolution of a proteome, and in its combination with isotope-coded affinity tags [44] it is able to resolve proteins not detected on 2-DE gels with the possibility of exact quantification.

A tendency to introduce all protein analysis techniques under the term proteomics can be seen in many publications, although often only one protein is purified and/or its secondary and tertiary structure or other characteristics are determined. Of course all protein analytical methods contribute to the knowledge about proteins, but one should clearly distinguish between hypothesis-free and reductionistic approaches. Even chip technologies reduce the view on known components immobilized on the chip. Only if all protein species of a proteome were known, an ideal chip containing all corresponding antibodies could be constructed. In addition to thousands of genes about 500 posttranslational modifications are known. Therefore this possibility seems unfeasible.

The heart with its relatively uniform tissue is a clearly defined organ and therefore predestined as a starting material for proteomics with the aim to understand the molecular functioning of a complete organ. This idea led to the first heart databases [1,2,45–47], even at a time of low popularity of proteomics, to several original publications ([48–51] and many others) reviewed here and even some reviews [7,8,24,52] updated here.

Organic chemistry and combinatorial chemistry produced an overwhelming number of chemical compounds, which now can be used in a discovery approach to look for targets within proteomes with a not less overwhelming number of protein species. The understanding of pathogenesis and drug discovery now are at the beginning of a new era in life sciences.

2. Methods of proteomics

The classical proteomic approach, independent of sample origin, comprises sample acquisition and preparation, separation of protein species using twodimensional gel electrophoresis (2-DE), imaging, identification of protein species and possibly their posttranslational modifications (PTMs), subsequent quantification, which allows comparative studies, and finally data evaluation including the involvement of www-accessible databases. Within each step of this proteomic analysis a number of alternative or additional options exist, and they are continuously becoming more sophisticated. The advances and perspectives in the field of proteomics in general and of cardiovascular proteomics were recently comprehensively reviewed by Macri et al. [24], Arrell et al. [7], Dunn et al. [8] and Banks and coworkers [6].

2.1. Sample preparation

An effective sample preparation constitutes the basis of a successful proteomics bound study. Artifacts introduced at this point of the analysis can often be magnified and potentially jeopardize the validity of the results [24]. The excellent resolving power of 2-DE is a 'dual-edged sword' with the ability to detect subtle posttranslational modifications as well as artifactitious modifications such as protein carbamylation due to excessive sample heating or sonification [53].

The ideal sample preparation buffer would be able to completely solubilize all proteins of a tissue/cell preparation or cellular compartment ('subproteomics', see below) without adding modifications [24]. The constraints for a good solubilization medium for 2-DE are therefore to be able to break ionic bonds, hydrogen bonds, hydrophobic interactions and disulfide bridges under conditions compatible with isoelectric focusing (IEF), i.e. with very low amounts of salt and other charged compounds (review in [54]).

The homogenization (mechanical, sonification) of a tissue/cells should, if possible, already be performed in a suitable 'lysis buffer', which often includes the use of a protease inhibitor cocktail to inhibit the inherent proteolytic activity associated with the sample. The disrupture of the numerous protein-protein and protein/non-protein interactions is accomplished by the application of various combinations of reducing agents (e.g. dithiothreitol (DTT)), chaotropic agents (e.g. urea or combination of urea and thiourea) and detergents [54]. There have been a number of comprehensive reviews regarding the preparation and utilization of protein 'solubilization buffers' for 2-DE [24,53-55]. Due to the incompatibility of ionic detergents such as SDS with IEF, non-ionic detergents like Triton X-100 or Nonidet P-40 and zwitterionic detergents like CHAPS are routinely preferred [24]. An improved protein solubility has been reported if replacing DTT by phosphine derivatives like tributylphosphine or tris (carboxyethyl) phosphine as reducing agents [54,56]. Moreover, increasing the pH to 10.0 or 11.0 per se will also promote solubilization [54]. The most important problem linked with the chaotrope urea is carbamylation of proteins, which leads to artifactual charge heterogeneity possibly giving rise to the misinterpretation as PTMs. This can be counteracted by the use of pure grade urea, avoidance of temperatures above 37 °C and addition of a cyanate scavenger like carrier ampholytes [54].

2.2. Sample prefractionation (subproteomics)

Besides the analysis of the proteome of a *whole-cell homogenate* it is often preferable to prepare a set of subproteomes as a means of concentrating proteins which may be under-represented within the total protein profile [56]. The need for prefractionation has been recognized very early and has gained attraction again after definition of the term proteome [57]. Fractionation methods exploiting specific protein characteristics can focus on enrichment of a single protein or group of proteins [58], with selectivity based on physicochemical properties, or on differential cellular compartmentalization [7]. An alternative method to increase the presence of low level proteins is to peel away individual layers of the

proteome which simplifies this needle-in-a-haystack task [59], e.g. by removal of albumin or the immunoglobulin fraction from serum [60,61]. The sequential use of different detergents has equally been applied to extract specific protein fractions [62], as well as affinity-based methods [38], immunoprecipitation and concanavalin A [63].

Membrane-associated proteins pose a particular challenge with respect to solubilization, and they are significantly underrepresented in 2-D gels. The extraction of membrane proteins from the pellet of the cytosolic fraction can be achieved by sequential solubilization using a combination of urea, thiourea, tributyl phosphine and multiple zwitterionic surfactants [62]. In addition to this the recently described alternative zwitterionic detergent alkylaryl aminosulfobetaine C8psi was utilized in an attempt to facilitate the solubilization of cardiac sarcoplasmic and sarcolemmal proteins like phospholamban, Ca²⁺-ATPase and calsequestrin [64,65]. Recent developments concerning the solubilization of (hydrophobic) membrane proteins have been thoroughly reviewed by M.P. Molloy [66] and V. Santoni [67]. The current methodology to isolate membrane proteins has become more and more specific until the total absence of contaminating cytosolic proteins was realized [68].

Other subproteomic approaches focus on *Golgi* apparatus membranes [69] or profiling of the entire rat *mitochondrial proteome* using affinity fractionation and automation [38].

M. Mann and coworkers have added to the subproteomic knowledge by elucidating the spatial organization of *multi-protein complexes*, which perform most cellular functions. They first purify components of a protein complex via molecular interactions using an affinity tagged member. Then the partially cross-linked purified complex is analyzed by mass spectrometry at the femtomole level [39]. The first entire mammalian multi-protein complex, which was excised and characterized from a 2-DE gel, was the the ribosome of *E. coli* long before the term proteome was defined [70].

Other cellular compartments that have been isolated and subject to subproteomics are the *spliceosome*, the machinery that removes introns from mRNA precursors [40], *myofilament proteins* of the heart [59], the *phagosome* [41], *nuclear proteins* [71–73], endosomes [74], mitochondria [75] and the mitochondrial ribosome [76].

2.3. Protein separation

2.3.1. Two-dimensional SDS polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE)

It is generally agreed that at the present time 2-DE remains unsurpassed in its ability to resolve large protein mixtures. One can routinely separate 2000–3000 protein species from a single sample prepara-

tion, or up to 10 000 protein species from large-scale $(23\times30 \text{ cm})$ gels (Fig. 1) [11,19,45,77]. During the first dimension, or isoelectric focusing stage, proteins are separated via a pH gradient and allowed to migrate to their respective isoelectric points (pI) in the gel on the basis of their charge [78]. Proteins are then resolved orthogonally according to their relative molecular mass (M_r) in the second dimension, normally by SDS–PAGE [7]. Technical aspects of 2-DE have been extensively reviewed [79–81]. Polyacrylamide tube or rod gels have traditionally



Fig. 1. Standard 2-DE pattern of human right ventricular proteins (HP-2DPAGE; Table 1). Isoelectric focusing with anodic sample application and nonequilibrium running conditions (NEPHGE) was combined with SDS–PAGE in 15% vertical acrylamide gels (23×30 cm×1.5 mm) [4,11]. Proteins were detected by silver staining. Molecular mass and isoelectric point calibration were performed by theoretical values of identified proteins. The given examples of identified proteins (n=70) belong to the group of DCM associated proteins [10–12,26]. Alpha crystallin B chain was found to be increased to 137% in DCM [10].

been used as the support matrix for IEF [19,21,45,82,83], which include a mixture of synthetic carrier ampholytes (CA) in order to establish the pH gradient. Detailed comparison of CA-based patterns generated in separate laboratories may be hampered by discontinuities in the pH gradient resulting from different sources of CA, a drift in the focusing pattern in the late stage of electrophoresis and an instability of the gradient in the higher pH range [84].

An important progress with respect to IEF might have been the introduction of immobilized pH gradient (IPG) strips, where the pH gradient is an integral part of the polyacrylamide gel matrix ([85]; for reviews see Refs. [84,86–88]). Interlaboratory studies of heart, barley and yeast proteins have demonstrated reliable reproducibility of this method [8,87]. The issue of whether to use carrier ampholyte IEF or immobilized pH gradients for the first dimension continues to be subject of considerable discussion [24].

Choices for the second-dimensional separation have not much changed. Either flat-bed (Fig. 2) or vertical systems (Fig. 1) of different size, thickness and percentage acrylamide may be utilized. Vertical settings offer the opportunity to perform multiple slab gel separations simultaneously (up to 20) [84] in the DALT apparatus originally described by Anderson and Anderson [89]. Since the introduction of Ettan-DALT, also individual IPG-strips can be run vertically [87]. Recent developments of second-dimension electrophoresis equipment have even presented ready-made SDS-gels on plastic backing for vertical systems (Amersham-Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden).

2.3.2. Complementary protein separation methods

Although there are no actual applications mentioned for cardiac proteomics, the new developments in proteomics technology are so fascinating and promising for the future, that some of them earn a short glance here. Even with the recent advances, 2-DE remains problematic with respect to key issues such as quantification and throughput [24]. For these reasons other separation methods may be warranted. They include capillary IEF and capillary zone electrophoresis [74], ion exchange, size exclusion or reversed-phase high-performance liquid chromatography (RP-HPLC) [7,71,72,90] in conjunction with mass spectrometry to provide a means of direct analysis of protein mixtures [24,28,29]. The combination of continuous free flow electrophoresis (FFE), a powerful liquid-based IEF method, with SDS–PAGE and subsequent peptide fragment sequencing, using on-line RP-HPLC and MS, is capable of fractionating intact protein complexes, and it has the advantage of not being limited by the amount of sample that can be loaded [91].

Affinity chromatography is another extremely selective separation method, exploiting protein affinity for antibodies, specific target proteins or chemical characteristics [7,92,93]. Besides conventional column chromatography or immunoprecipitation, affinity-based separation may be achieved using the newly developed solution and chip arrays in protein profiling. These technologies utilize different capture agents, which can be specific like natural or phage display antibodies [36,37], or unspecific using protein-protein interactions or protein binding ligands [30,32]. Protein microarrays bear the potential for thousands of elements being immobilized e.g. on a chip, with the possibility to retain their ability for selective interactions [32]. A disadvantage of chips covered with antibodies is that only known proteins may be detected, and the discovery aspect of proteomics is fading. Detection and quantification of captured analytes can be managed by fluorescence or biosensor methods, or directly be coupled to MS. Three-dimensional protein arrays in solution (solution arrays) are superior to protein chips, because they do not compromise the functions of binding, and they are more flexible to custom needs. The application of solution and chip arrays in protein profiling has been thoroughly reviewed by Zhou et al. [34].

The problem of protein quantification by MS out of complex samples could be overcome using the newly introduced method of affinity mass tagging reagents [44], or by incorporating surface plasmon resonance (SPR) biosensor systems into MALDI technology [94].

As proteins fractionated by many of these methods retain their native and soluble state, such methods may be directly linked to MS or to in vitro biochemical arrays after separation [7]. But, although very promising, all these new-entries in the field of



Fig. 2. (a) A two-dimensional electrophoresis (2-DE) separation of 80 μ g of human left ventricular extract (control) after [³²P]ADPribosylation. IEF was performed in a self cast 18 cm IPG-strip pH 4–9 (linear) [106]. The second dimension was run on a ready-made 12% SDS gel (18×24 cm) (Amersham Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden) in a flat bed system (Multiphor II; Amersham Pharmacia). Proteins were detected by silver staining; (b) corresponding section of the autoradiogram of an identical 2-DE separation: [³²P]ADP-ribosylation specifically labels eucaryotic elongation factor-2 (eEF-2), thereby increasing sensitivity compared to silver staining.

proteomics have yet to equal the 'gold-standard' of 2-DE, both in resolution and in capacity [24].

2.4. Protein detection

After completion of conventional 2-DE, a variety of options for detection of protein spots exist, the more common including Coomassie or silver staining, ³²P or ³⁵S radiolabelling or immunodetection [7]. Silver staining with a sensitivity of about 1 ng protein is the most widely applied, but radiolabelling

is superior in sensitivity. Especially if a specific radiolabelling method for a protein exists, like Pseudomonas Exotoxin A catalyzed [³²P]ADP-ribosylation of elongation factor-2, a key protein of peptide-chain elongation, low-abundant protein species can be visualized on 2-DE of normal protein load, including their variants derived from e.g. posttranslational modifications (Fig. 2) [95].

Coomassie-staining is still very popular—although with a sensitivity about 10–100 times lower than silver and fluorescent stains [96]—because it is inexpensive, easy to handle and compatible with subsequent protein identification using mass spectrometry (MS) [24]. Colloidal Coomassie Blue G-250 is superior in sensitivity compared to Coomassie Blue R-250.

About 100 different silver staining protocols exist, the majority of published methods to date are based either on silver nitrate (acidic method) or silver diammine (alkaline) for silver impregnation ([24]; for review see Ref. [97]). The latter is not recommended for gels supported on plastic-backings. The introduction of thiosulfate to the developing step has dramatically reduced the background in silver staining and allows thorough development of the image [98]. Another drawback of silver staining is the relative incompatibility with subsequent analytical techniques [96] and the dependence of silver deposition on the protein from the degree of glycosylation [99]. With a modified silver staining protocol, which omits the sensitizing reagents glutaraldehyde and formaldehyde in the silver impregnation step, a commercial silver staining kit (Silver Stain PlusOne: Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) was shown to have some compatibility with in-gel digestion, MALDI and ESI analysis (see below) [100].

Reliable fluorescent stains for protein detection have become available recently and offer an attractive alternative to other detection methods [24]. They have the advantage of superior linearity to protein concentration, a higher dynamic range and equal or higher sensitivity compared to silver stains [8,101]. By binding non-covalently to the SDS molecules coating the protein several SYPRO stains allow reliable quantitative comparison between proteins. The subsequent analysis of the gel by Western blot is possible, leading to the detection of as few as 1000 molecules per cell [8,24]. Several of the newer stains such as SYPRO Ruby are completely compatible with mass spectrometry (MS) [101]. Samples of interest can even be labelled with different fluorescent stains such as cyanine dyes, combined and subject to 2-DE, allowing the detection of protein differences within one gel. This technique is called difference gel electrophoresis (DIGE) [102]. The main drawback of fluorescent stains are the high costs, both for reagents and imaging equipment (UV transilluminator, blue-light transilluminator or laser scanner).

2.5. Image analysis

Adequate image reproduction is essential to properly map detected spots. Image acquisition is most often accomplished with either modified document scanners, charge-coupled device (CCD) camera, laser densitometers and fluorescent or phosphor imagers [8]. For comparative studies identical scanning options have to be maintained for all gels. The resulting images must be converted to a digital format to be applicable to specialized image analysis software [7,8,24]. Some examples for the current generation of system packages are Phoretix 2D, AIDA, Image Master 2D Elite, PDQuest, Melanie III and TOPSPOT. The last one can be downloaded from the internet (http://www.mpiib-berlin.mpg.de/ 2D-PAGE/) [46].

In general, image analysis entails detection of protein spots, quantification and matching of spots on different gels. Because of the inherent variations in the 2-DE process, a considerable degree of manual editing is still necessary, in addition to the automated procedure of image processing. The degree of confidence placed on the quantitative analysis is highly dependent on the normalization functions of the imaging software, which must compensate variations of sample loading and uptake, staining intensities and distortions during electrophoresis [24,103]. In addition to this, an intensity calibration of the system must be performed, normally using a standardized step wedge, to assure the spot evaluation being within a linear range and to be able to match spots between different gels. Although not absolutely essential, statistical functions are often incorporated into these software packages to deal with the substantial amount of data that is generated by such quantitative analysis of hundreds of matched protein species.

2.6. Protein identification

Some elaborate reviews concerning protein identification in proteomics have been contributed by Jungblut et al. [73], Gevaert et al. [104] and Patterson [105]. Analytical techniques such as immunoblotting, comigration analysis, microsequencing by automated Edman degradation and amino acid compositional analysis [105,106] have all conventionally been used to identify proteins from 2-DE gels. Protein detection by immunoblotting can only detect known proteins with the prerequisite of highly specific antibodies. In the case of visualization of the antigen/antibody complexes by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL), repeated stripping and reprobing of one membrane with different antibodies has become feasible. All these techniques were crucial to earlier studies and are still widely used, but are labour-intensive and time-consuming procedures [24]. The combination of high-resolution 2-DE with highly sensitive biological mass spectrometry (MS) and the rapidly growing protein and DNA databases have paved the way for high-throughput proteomics.

2.6.1. Protein electroblotting and Edman sequencing

An automated procedure for chemical N-terminal sequencing of amino acids has been described by Edman and Begg [107]. The modern protein sequencers have sensitivities in the lower pmole range, but, because of N-terminal blockage, only 15-25% of all CBB-stained spots can be identified by this method [11,105]. Chemical procedures for carboxyterminal sequencing have also been developed, but because of inferior sensitivity this technique is not applicable for protein identification from 2-DE gels [11]. For internal sequencing proteins are digested prior to sequencing, either using an in-gel method or the 'on-membrane' cleavage strategy, proposed by Aebersold et al. [105,108]. The resulting peptides are subsequently eluted, separated by RP-HPLC and individually sequenced (for reviews see [11,104, 105]). The Edman-based approaches are generally slow because every protein spot or peptide peak has to be sequenced individually. In these cases one can hardly speak of high-throughput analysis. However, the first 2-D gel protein databases were generated this way [104].

2.6.2. Mass spectrometric peptide mapping and protein identification

One of the most powerful driving forces of largescale proteomics was the development of the MAL-DI-based mass spectrometric identification technology. Comprehensive overviews over this field have been given by Patterson and Aebersold [109], Yates III [110] and Mann et al. [111,112]. In the mass spectrometric approach the characterization of the targeted protein, which is in many cases purified by 2-DE, is achieved via the analysis of a peptide mixture, resulting from an enzymatic or chemical cleavage of the protein of interest (for reviews see [7,11,20,21,24,51,78,110,113]; noncardiovascular see [104,105,109]).

Mass spectrometers consist of three essential parts. The first, an ionization source, converts molecules into gas-phase ions. Once ions are created, they are separated on the basis of their individual mass-tocharge ratio (m/z) by a second device, a mass analyzer, and transferred to the third, an ion detector [110,114]. The most widely used ionization sources are matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization (MALDI) and electrospray ionization (ESI) [109,110,115]. The development of these two robust techniques to create ions of large molecules has been essential for proteomics [109,110]. MALDI sources are most frequently coupled to time-of-flight (TOF) mass analyzers, while ESI sources can be linked to analyzers such as quadrupole ion-trap and hybrid quadrupole time-of-flight (Q-TOF) [24,81,114]. Modern ESI-based MS/MS may use LC systems such as capillary zone electrophoresis or very low flow-rate reversed-phase HPLC before ionization to fractionate complex peptide mixtures [7,24,109]. Both methods can determine accurate masses of proteins and peptides in the low to subpicomole range [105] with mass accuracies of up to 0.01% [109].

The first technique generally employed to identify protein species purified by 2-DE is peptide mass fingerprinting (PMF). It is based on the finding that the mass profile of the peptide fragments resulting from a chemical or enzymatic (e.g. using trypsin) cleavage of a protein spot is characteristic of that protein, like a 'fingerprint' [8,24,105]. The set of peptide masses identified using MALDI-MS are compared with possible peptide masses either calculated from theoretical in silico digestion of known proteins or predicted from nucleotide sequence databases [8,24]. The topscoring proteins are retrieved as possible candidate proteins, according to the percentage of matched peptides [104]. The success of PMF is highly dependent on the existence of comprehensive, searchable databases for the species under investigation [24]. This method was successfully applied to proteomics of the heart by several groups, who also established myocardial 2-DE databases [10,11,20,45,46,51]. A breakthrough in this respect has been obtained by the combination of high-resolution 2-DE gels, enzymatic in-gel cleavage and elution of the peptides with the peptide concentrating device developed by Otto et al. [20].

In the next level of protein identification, called tandem MS/MS, an ionized peptide of interest, selected by the first MS, undergoes collision-induced dissociation (CID), the resulting fragments being analyzed in the second mass etage [7,24]. With MS/MS information on the sequence of peptides is obtained, which represents a powerful tool to discern novel proteins [78,110]. Another main technique for protein identification using MALDI-MS is postsource decay (PSD) analysis [11,18,104]. Here the ion detector is replaced by a so-called 'reflectron field', which reverses the flight path of incoming ions. Fragment ions can so be separated from their intact precursor ions. Although MALDI-PSD spectra are usually complex, sequence tags, i.e. the exact position of one or few consecutive amino acids within the peptide sequence, can in many cases be obtained [18,104]. Yates et al. [116] adapted their SEQUEST algorithm to scan uninterpreted MS/MS or MALDI-PSD spectra against suitably prepared sequence databases, and another computer program was developed called MassTag, which compares theoretical fragmentation patterns with experimental PSD spectra to identify proteins of which PMF could otherwise not lead to protein identification [104,117].

For unknown peptides the above mentioned sequence tag method can be used [18,109] with only 2–3 amino acid residues derived from fragmentation by MS/MS [18]. The sequence tag algorithm is based on the finding that a short piece of partial sequence, together with the molecular mass of the preceding and trailing region of the peptide, is a unique signature of that peptide [18]. Even amino acid substitutions and posttranslational modifications do not prevent the identification of the peptide.

Protein quantification is important in following the changes in gene expression due to disease or a particular cellular intervention [7]. One new technology which allows accurate quantification by MS is stable isotope labelling. This method either grows cultured cells in differently labelled media, or uses labelling after sample preparation, called isotope-code affinity tag peptide labelling [7,44]. Proteins from two different experimental conditions are either

reacted with hydrogen or deuterium ion labelled isotope-coded affinity tag reagents. The resulting peptide mass peak heights are indicative of differences in the quantity of that particular protein [44].

Another strategy has been developed leading to direct identification of proteins in complexes. After a proteolytic digestion of a protein mixture and reversed-phase liquid chromatography, the partially fractionated peptide mixtures can be directly introduced into a tandem mass spectrometer [110]. To simplify the peptide mixture applied to LC-tandem mass spectrometry an affinity selection method to capture only cysteinyl peptides was developed [29]. This approach reduces the reliance on SDS-PAGE to separate proteins for analysis. Direct identification of proteins in mixtures has been used to identify components of the yeast ribosome using 2D-liquid chromatography and MS/MS. A total of 80 protein species were identified in a single experiment, at least ten of which were not resolved by 2D-gel electrophoresis [28,110].

3. Proteomics of the heart

The ultimate goal of applying proteomic techniques in cardiovascular research lies in its ability to unravel molecular mechanisms of the disease. In addition to traditional proteomic methods of mapping and identifying proteins, which gave researchers the ability to develop protein databases, the evolution of proteomic tools now facilitates the identification of both the nature and the site of unknown protein modifications. In conjunction with functional data from established biochemical and physiological methods this 'functional proteomics' might further our understanding of the interplay between proteome dynamics and cardiovascular disease.

3.1. Heart 2-DE protein databases

The creation of 2-DE gel protein databases, beginning in the 1990s, has been essential for proteomics of the heart to become a powerful tool in the research of heart diseases. Pioneering proteomic work by the laboratories of M. Dunn and P.R. Jungblut led to the creation of several online 2-DE databases of human, dog, rat and mouse atrial and ventricular myocardium [1,2,45,47]. The three main databases are HEART-2D-PAGE [2,45,49,118], HSC-2D-PAGE [1,47,79,119,120] and HP-2D-PAGE [46]. In 1995 Kovaljov and coworkers established their own two-dimensional protein database of the human heart with 312 abundant proteins (40 of them identified), but this database was not connected to the World Wide Web and does not meet the rules for federated 2-DE databases [121].

To conform to the rules for federated 2-DE protein databases, such databases have to meet the criteria of accessibility by remote keyword search, linkage to other databases by cross-references and use of main indexes, further accessibility of individual proteins through clickable images and finally, the 2-DE analysis softwares should be able to directly access individual entries into any federated 2-DE database [122]. Over the years many groups have contributed to these databases [20,46,119,120,123,124] (Table 1), but they are still only partially complete with roughly 200 proteins identified. These freely accessible protein inventories are tremendously important, because they provide researchers with a basis for visualization of changes of protein patterns resulting from the conditions of their particular study. Pleissner and coworkers have included a link to heart proteins associated with dilated cardiomyopathy in their database [125], an effort which will hopefully be extended to other heart diseases, introducing 'the next level' of cardiovascular proteomics.

3.2. Proteomics of dilated cardiomyopathy

Dilated cardiomyopathy (DCM) is a cardiac disease, which has been studied most intensively using proteomic tools so far. It is a heterogeneous myocardial disorder characterised by a depressed contractile function and ventricular dilation. In contrast to ischemic heart failure, where the severity usually correlates with the extent of coronary artery lesions, the pathophysiology of DCM is less clear. Genetic factors, myocarditis from infectious agents, autoimmune mechanisms, cytokine activation, toxic damage like alcohol abuse and hormonal or metabolic influences can play a role [126]. Patients with DCM generally have an impaired functional capacity of the heart and-in spite of immense improvements of pharmacotherapy during the last decade-poor longterm outcomes: A mortality of 5-15% per year was reported recently [127]. For medically refractory or progressive heart failure due to DCM cardiac transplantation often remains the only hope.

The precise cellular mechanism leading to myocardial contractile dysfunction in DCM has not been determined, and a direct causal link to a pattern of descriptive findings has yet to be established. Pathophysiological changes already described with biochemical methods other than 2-DE include changes in G-protein mediated signal transduction pathways in human heart failure, e.g. a selective decrease of β_1 -adrenoceptor number (for review, see [128]), increased inhibitory G-proteins [129], impaired calcium homeostasis (reviewed in [130]), or

Table 1

2-DE heart pr	otein databases	accessible via	the	World	Wide	Web
---------------	-----------------	----------------	-----	-------	------	-----

Database	Web address	Source	Protein spots separated	Protein species identified	Last update	References
HSC-2DPAGE	http://www.harefield.nthames.nhs.uk/nhli/protein	Human heart (LV)	~1500	~153	2/98	[1,47,83, 119 ,124,139]
		dog heart (LV)	1212	80	10/97	[83, 120 ,139]
		rat heart (LV)	1188	30	8/97	[83 ,139]
HEART-	http://www.chemie.fu-berlin.de/user/pleiss/dhzb.html	Human heart	3300	150	10/96	[2,9,45,125]
2DPAGE		(RA, RV)				[20,49,118]
HP-2DPAGE	http://www.mdc-berlin.de/~emu/heart/	Human heart (RV)	~3300	70	2/97	[45, 46]
RAT HEART- 2DPAGE	$http://gelmatching.inf.fu-berlin.de/\sim pleiss/2d/$	Rat heart	>3000	64	8/98	[123]

abnormalities of contractile proteins with lower calcium-dependent Mg^{2+} -ATPase activity in heart failure [78,130,131]. However the relevance of these findings to the pathogenesis of DCM remains to be determined and many changes may only constitute nonspecific adaptive alterations e.g. due to haemo-dynamic overload. So far the majority of studies on DCM have concentrated on alterations in specific candidate proteins or metabolic pathways [82]. In this situation proteomics with its main tool 2-DE initially was employed to simultaneously investigate the largest possible range of cardiac proteins in a hypothesis free approach, in order to identify protein alterations specific to DCM.

Because of the multifactorial pathophysiology of DCM a high number of samples separated by 2D-PAGE is expected to be necessary for valid results on relevant proteomic changes of the diseased heart. In the beginning of the 1990s two groups started with a proteomic investigation of DCM [1,2]. The high-performance 2-DE procedure of P.R. Jungblut and coworkers resulted in the resolution of about 3300 myocardial protein species, from which about 150 have been identified so far by amino acid analysis, Edman degradation and MALDI-MS [9,11].

A comparison of right atria from DCM patients (n=5) with those from controls (n=4) revealed 25 statistically significant quantitative differences, 12 of these protein species having been identified [9,48] (Fig. 1; Table 2).

In another comparative study of samples of right atrial tissue from 13 hearts explanted because of end-stage failure and from 15 control hearts, 52 spots significantly differed in average intensity [125]: Ventricular myosin light chain 2 (MLC2) and heat shock protein Hsp27 have been identified by protein microsequencing and gel map comparison with other databases. In the right atria of the DCM patients the spot intensity of MLC2 was increased to 336% and Hsp27 decreased to 59% compared to the control group (also see Table 2). Therefore these proteins were regarded to be characteristic protein markers for DCM in the right atrium. The upregulation of MLC2 was attributed more to the increase of right atrial wall stress in end-stage heart failure than to altered systolic function of the heart [125]. MLC2 resolves in 2-DE gels as a group of spots in the range of M_r 18 700 and pI 4.7, the intensity of the spots being highly variable in different samples [20]. DCM-associated changes within this spot assembly were confirmed by Corbett et al. [124].

The 2-DE investigation of myocardial samples from the right ventricle revealed that Hsp27 also appears as a huge family of protein species: Using immunostaining 34 [20] or even 59 protein spots reacted with an antibody against human heat shock protein 27 [10,58]. Differences of spot intensity within the Hsp27 group between DCM and controls have been first described by Otto et al. [132]. Knowlton and coworkers detected a two-fold increase of Hsp27 protein concentration in DCM and also an increase in ischemic heart failure (IHF) [133]. A thorough comparison of the Hsp27 protein species pattern of normal (n=3), DCM (n=6) and IHF human left ventricle specimen (n=5) revealed an increase of Hsp27 protein species at a molecular mass of 22-27 kD and a decrease of some Hsp27 spots at 28 kD, possibly resulting from enhanced Hsp27 degradation in heart failure [58]. A downregulation of Hsp27 actually might be of functional relevance, since it belongs to the group of heat shock proteins acting as molecular chaperones, which are upregulated in a number of cardiac diseases [134]. This again emphasizes that one protein may be represented in several protein species, and therefore variations of a protein sometimes cannot be recognized by evaluation of only one spot [58].

Human myocardium from the right ventricle was subject to 2-DE and resulted in 3239 resolved proteins. In addition to MLC2 and Hsp27, alphacrystallin β -chain, ATP-synthase [20], β -ketothiolase, isocitrate dehydrogenase and sarcomeric creatine kinase [21] were found to be correlated in intensity with dilated cardiomyopathy (Table 2). Some of these protein species are also represented in the DCM related section of the HEART-2DPAGE protein database, where significant changes of proteins in right atrial tissue samples have been collected from several studies [125].

When chamber-specific composition of human myocardial proteins was addressed, 40 significant quantitative and 5 qualitative differences between right atrium and left ventricle from explanted DCM hearts (n=40) were described. Five of the different protein spots were identified as MLC protein species, ATP synthase α chain and phosphoglycerate [135]. This points at the important problem that proteome changes of the right atrium (low-pressure system)

 Table 2

 Cardiac protein changes associated with human DCM

Protein identified	Kind of change	PTMs	Source	Reference
aconitate hydratase	\downarrow to 51% (mean)*		left ventricle	[82]
actin	\downarrow to 11%		left ventricle	[82]
α -actin, cardiac	↓ to 32%		left ventricle	[82]
α-crystallin, B chain	↓ to 64%		left ventricle	[82]
α-crystallin, B chain	↑ to 137%		right atrium/ventricle	[9,20, 48]
antiheart antibodies (IgG)	Ť		left ventricle	[142]
Apolipoprotein A-I	↓to 55%		left ventricle	[82]
ATP synthase, α chain	\uparrow		right ventricle	[9, 20]
ATP synthase, β chain	↓to 37%		left ventricle	[82]
ATP synthase	Ť		right atrium	[9,48]
carbonic anhydrase III	↓to 63%		left ventricle	[82]
creatine kinase M-chain	$\downarrow\uparrow$ to 74% and 218%**		left ventricle	[82]
creatine kinase, sarcomeric			right atrium	[9 ,48]
mitochondrial	↑to 232%			
desmin	↓to 35% (mean)		left/right ventricle	[20, 82 ,124]
desmin fragment	$\downarrow\uparrow$ to 59% and 330%		left ventricle	[82]
dihydrofolat reductase	↑to 235%		left ventricle	[82]
dihydrolipoamide dehydrogenase	↓to 36%		left ventricle	[82]
fatty acid binding protein	↓to 61%	acetylation	right ventricle	[9,20,46, 50]
haptoglobin	↓to 40%		left ventricle	[82]
haptoglobin fragment	\downarrow		right atrium	[9,48]
hemoglobin α-chain	\downarrow		right atrium	[9,48]
hemoglobin β-chain	\downarrow		right atrium	[9,48]
Hsp27	\uparrow		left ventricle	[133]
Hsp27	↓to 59%	phosphorylation	right atrium/ventricle	[20,125]
Hsp27, 28 kDa	\downarrow		left ventricle	[58]
Hsp27, 27 kDa	Ť		left ventricle	[58]
Hsp60	\downarrow to 47% (mean)		left ventricle	[82]
Hsp60	\uparrow		left ventricle	[133]
Hsp70 constitutive	↓to 42%		left ventricle	[82]
Hsp70 inducible	↓to 38%		left ventricle	[82]
isocytrate dehydrogenase	\uparrow		right atrium/ventricle	[9,48,82]
lactate dehydrogenase, heart	↓to 71%		left ventricle	[82]
malate dehydrogenase	↓to 61%		right atrium	[48]
myosin light chain 1, ventricular	↓to 48%		left ventricle	[82]
myosin regulatory light chain 2,				
ventricular	↓to 44%		left ventricle	[82]
myosin light chain 2, ventricular	↑to 336%	phosphorylation	right atrium/ventricle	[20,46,124,125]
myosin regulatory				
light chain 2, fragment	↑to 427%		left ventricle	[82]
phenylalanine-4-hydroxylase	↓to 52%		left ventricle	[82]
phosphofructokinase	↓to 58%		left ventricle	[82]
serum albumin, N-terminal fragment	↓to 44%		left ventricle	[82]
transferrin	↓to 35%		left ventricle	[82]
triosephosphat isomerase	↓to 46%		left ventricle	[82]
vimentin	Tto 152%		left ventricle	[82]

*Mean value given, if one protein is represented by several protein species; **indicates that two protein species of one protein show a different kind of reaction in DCM. References in bold give exact values of changes.

cannot be regarded as equivalent to changes of the diseased left ventricle (high-pressure system) [48].

DCM patients (n=5) and controls (n=5) 258 non-

In another comparison of ventricular biopsies from

saturated protein spots were found in all 10 gels. Out of these 7 spots were increased 2-fold and 6 spots decreased 2-fold in DCM. Using the Mann–Whitney test, four of these 13 protein spots were identified as significantly different in intensity in 1994 [50], but they could not be identified at that time [50]. Studies gradually became more sophisticated and the number of cases increased: Left ventricular biopsies were used in a study comparing 28 DCM patients with control donor heart biopsy samples (n=9) and 21 cardiac protein patterns from patients with ischemic heart disease (IHD). A total of five spots displayed increased protein amounts in the DCM group compared to IHD heart failure patients (P < 0.01) and 88 proteins displayed decreased spot intensities [82]. Thirty four of these 93 protein species were identified. Two of the most prominent changes seen were the decreases in MLC2 and in a 50 kDa charge train of spots, previously identified as desmin [47,119]. Ten of 28 (36%) DCM samples showed levels of MLC2 and desmin less than half the mean levels of these proteins in IHD material [82]. A decrease of desmin, which also appears as a spot group lying between the main spots of actin and serum albumin [20], was already described by Corbett et al. [124].

These results are especially interesting, because K.P. Pleissner et al. found MLC2 to be increased in the atria of DCM patients, whereas Dalla-Libera and coworkers also detected lower levels of ventricular MLC2 here [125,136]. Other examples of ventricular proteins decreased in DCM are actin, aconitate hydratase, apolipoprotein A-I and haptoglobin (Table 2). Donor biopsy material displayed similar protein levels to those seen in IHD patients [82].

In the early 1990s troponin T (TnT) was examined in normal compared to failing human left ventricles using Western blot and 2-DE. Two dominant spots of TnT1 and of TnT2 and several minor TnT species were found. The disease-associated increase of the TnT2 isoform was interpreted as an adaptation to abnormal myocardial function [137]. Moreover, some data suggest an enhanced amount of fetal isoforms of troponin T in the failing heart [138].

All the results from studies comparing heart tissue from DCM patients with normal or IHD heart specimen described above are primarily descriptive. But what are the functional implications that can be drawn from different amounts of these protein species? Can these results really give insight into pathophysiological mechanisms of the disease or are they epiphenomena?

Several proteins differing significantly in DCM

have metabolic functions like carbonic anhydrase, lactate dehydrogenase or triosephosphate isomerase. Others like alpha-crystallin and heat shock proteins 60 and 70 are implicated in the cell's stress response. Hsp60, also known as chaperonine 60, has also important functions in protein folding and assembly [139]. Phosphofructokinase, which was reduced in DCM, is involved in glycolysis, and the reduction of ATP synthase offers a possible explanation for the low levels of ATP reported in cardiomyopathic hearts [82,140]. Malate dehydrogenase and mitochondrial creatine kinase take part in cardiac substrate utilization and in the creatine phosphate shuttle [48]. Moreover, the decrease in the levels of the regulatory MLC2, which was attributed to an increased expression of a MLC2 specific protease in DCM, was confirmed by the studies of Margossian et al. These investigators were able to correlate the reduction of MLC2 with a twofold decrease in ATP binding and hydrolysis rate in DCM heart myofilaments compared to control samples [141]. The observed reduction in the levels of desmin, which is a major component of sarcomeric Z discs, could contribute to the myofibrillar disorganisation and impaired myocyte contraction in DCM [82,128]. The differential amounts of Hsp27 protein species in normal and failing human hearts may lead to an impairment of actin organization, which is the main physiological function of this protein, besides protecting cells from damage due to several stress factors [10.58].

Moreover, using 2-DE and immunoblotting, reactive antigens were identified, which supports the hypothesis of an immune involvement in DCM. In the sera of 52 patients with DCM a significantly greater frequency of IgG antibodies reacting with MLC1, tropomyosin, actin, Hsp60 and MHC of ventricular myocardium were found than in the sera of patients with IHD [142].

Although the different protein patterns observed in DCM showed no obvious relationship with New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional class or haemodynamic parameters [82], the lower amounts or absence of MLC2 or desmin could have serious consequences for myocyte contractility and therefore cardiac performance. To establish whether these changes lead to or result from a malfunction elsewhere in cardiac cell structure or metabolism, animal

models of volume overload or material from human disease conditions like mitral valve insufficiency might prove informative [82].

3.3. Proteomic results of other human heart or vascular diseases

Reports on proteomic studies concerning cardiac diseases apart from DCM are scarce and are mainly confined to animal models or the use of isolated cardiomyocytes (see below). In an investigation of coronary artery disease (CAD) after heart transplantation those patients who developed early CAD within 2 years of transplantation were compared with those without evidence of CAD at this time [143]. In the sera of patients positive for early CAD, IgMantibodies had been found reacting with 40 different protein spots on 2-DE separations from endothelial cell extracts. These antiendothelial IgM-antibodies had been correlated with transplant-associated CAD earlier. Using protein microsequencing and immunoblotting 11 of these 40 proteins were assigned to vimentin fragments, tubulin α -1 chain, heat shock protein 60, triose phosphate isomerase and 75 kD glucose-regulated protein (heat shock protein 70 family). It has been concluded that vimentin is one of the target antigens in the development of transplant-associated CAD, possibly mediated by antiendothelial IgM-antibodies of the heart recipients [143]. In another study concerning heart transplantation cardiac antigens were monitored eliciting specific antibody responses in vivo. This may be involved in the process of acute rejection. Some antigens were identified in the sera of heart recipients before transplantation [144]: Tropomyosin, actin, Hsp60, Hsp70 and MHC. Their potential as noninvasive markers for the clinical course after heart transplantation is currently being investigated [6,144].

Human ventricular hypertrophy due to aortic valve disease was investigated by Sutsch et al.: An atriallike myosin light chain-1 was found to be significantly accumulated in left ventricular biopsies in response to volume or pressure overload [145].

Another interesting approach is the implementation of proteomic analysis to delineate the myocardial intracellular signalling events, that evoke cardioprotection against ischemic injury: Using 2-DE, MS, immunoblotting and affinity pull-down assays, it was found that protein kinase $C\varepsilon$ (PKC ε), which plays a critical role in ischemic preconditioning, is physically associated with at least 36 known proteins belonging to structural proteins, signalling molecules and stress-responsive proteins [92].

3.4. Animal models of cardiac diseases

An experimental model of heart failure induced by rapid ventricular pacing in dogs resembles human idiopathic dilated cardiomyopathy. Advantages of using this model are the ability to control both the onset and severity of the resulting low output failure. Left ventricular samples of the paced myocardium (n=5) revealed 42 decreased and 27 elevated protein spots compared with the control dogs (n=6) [146]. Twenty protein species have been identified, 10 of these being associated with mitochondria and energy production (e.g. Hsp60 and Hsp70, creatine kinase M-chain and fatty-acid binding protein decreased) and 2 are cytoskeletal proteins (desmin decreased, desmin fragment increased). Elongation factor Tu was present only in control animals [146]. Interestingly, 7 of these observed changes were equally found in human DCM [82]. Decreased desmin could account for a loss of lateral alignment of the myofibrils and disorganization of mitochondria. A reduction in SERCA2a protein strongly suggests changes in the calcium activation of cardiomyocytes in the paced dogs [146]. When the pI region of these 2D-investigations was increased to the more basic (pI 3-10) 23 additional spots could be identified, half of them being mitochondrial or energy production proteins, supporting the notion that the myocardium in congestive heart failure is energy deficient [147]. Creatine kinase M has also been shown as a protein changing in naturally occurring canine DCM [35]. Detailed explanations of the functional implications of the changed proteins in the paced dogs are given [146,147].

Bovine hereditary dilated cardiomyopathy is an autosomal recessive disease, which is endemic in Switzerland and displays important clinical and biochemical similarities to human DCM. Up to now 12 of 35 altered protein species have been identified [144]. The most notable changes were a 5.5 fold decrease of isovaleryl CoA dehydrogenase and a

seven-fold increase of ubiquitin carboxyl terminal hydrolase. The latter enzyme is thought to release free ubiquitin from poly-ubiquitinated proteins, thereby increasing the pool of free ubiquitin in the cytoplasm. Such a large increase of the cellular concentration of ubiquitin could lead to inappropriate ubiquitination of other proteins, targeting them for proteolysis in the 26S proteasome [148]. This finding is in accordance with the suggestion that inappropriate ubiquitination of key regulatory proteins followed by degradation may contribute to the transition of compensated hypertrophy to a decompensated failure state [149]. The same enzyme was found to be upregulated in the heart in human DCM. The specific proteins that become ubiquitinated in bovine DCM have been isolated by affinity chromatography using S5a Sepharose. Of the 26 proteins having been identified so far by MS (e.g. CK M-chain, myoglobin, haemoglobin β -chain), 16 are also markedly decreased in human DCM (M.J. Dunn, Proteomics Forum 2001, Munich).

A 2-DE investigation into cardiac protein levels after chronic ethanol feeding of rats showed significant decreases in the relative amounts of various proteins including several tentatively assigned as Hsp60, Hsp70 and desmin [139] according to the human protein database [1,119]. The relative proportions of actin, vimentin, tropomyosin, MLC1, MLC2 and albumin remained unchanged. It was concluded that the selective effects of chronic alcohol consumption on particular cardiac proteins might explain reduced contractility observed in alcohol-induced heart muscle disease [139]. The comparison of the alcohol effects on the myocardium of normotensive and hypertensive rats showed a general decrease of contractile proteins (predominantly MHC) in both groups, but in the hypertensive rats cardiac CK, malate dehydrogenase and AMP activities were elevated, while values of ATP and RNA were reduced. A greater susceptibility to ischemic damage of the hypertensive rat hearts due to chronic alcohol exposure was concluded from these results [150].

In addition to these studies differences in myosin light chain were observed between fetal and adult rat ventricular tissue, suggesting differences in developmental growth [151].

3.5. Proteomics of cultured cardiac myocytes

Proteomic investigations of isolated cardiac myocytes (CM) are rare and unfortunately a www.accessible database of cultured CM does not exist. The different 2-DE patterns of native and noradrenaline-treated neonatal rat cardiomyocytes were described in 1992, although no protein species could be identified at that time [152,153]. In a cell culture model for cardiac hypertrophy extracts from cultured neonatal rat CM with or without 48 h exposure to phenylephrine (100 μM) were separated by 2-DE. Eleven spots with statistical significant differences were identified using improved procedures for in-gel digestion of silver-stained proteins and MS [52]: MLC1 and MLC2 atrial isoforms were increased, as well as MLC2 ventricular isoform, chaperonine cofactor a, nucleoside diphosphate kinase a and Hsp27. Mitochondrial matrix protein p1 and NADH ubiquinone oxidoreductase 75 kDa subunit were found to be decreased [52]. Increased amounts of MLC2 as well as ventricular presence of the atrial isoform of MLC1, which is normally suppressed after birth, has been associated with cardiac hypertrophy by Northern blot analysis and immunofluorescence as well [52]. Endothelin-induced hypertrophy in neonatal rat cardiomyocytes resulted in a twofold decrease in 21 proteins compared to the levels observed in untreated cells, accompanied by a 30% increase in MLC1 and MLC2 [154].

Some members of the Hsp70 family were found to be exclusively present or increased in isolated human endothelial cells, stressed by heating [155]. It was proposed that these regulatory stress proteins in human endothelial cells might play an important role in ischemic heart disease or autoimmune diseases (one of the reasons of myocarditis and DCM). Damage to endothelial cells, e.g. by hypoxia, cytokines or viral infection is likely to be the initial step in these disorders [155].

Cardiomyocytes from adult rabbits, which had been isolated by collagenase dissociation, were used by the group of J.E. Van Eyk to investigate the effects of preconditioning: Myocardial ischemic preconditioning was recruited pharmacologically using adenosine directly after cell isolation. Proteomic analysis of cytosolic and myofilament-enriched fractions revealed a novel posttranslational modification to MLC1, consisting of phosphorylation at two sites [59]. The functional implications of this finding and its possible contribution to the preconditioned phenotype remains to be dissected [59].

As the cell culture model permits the detailed examination of cardiac protein composition profiles in response to controlled stimuli, this kind of investigation can be of profound use for proteomics of the heart. The creation of a database of isolated CM from different species and ages would be very helpful in this respect.

3.6. Posttranslational modifications and functional proteomics of human heart diseases

The incorporation of traditional proteome information deduced from mapping and identifying proteins and their posttranslational modifications (PTMs) with functional, biochemical or physiological assays can be called 'functional proteomics' [7]. Especially in acute disease conditions, in which there is often insufficient time to recruit de novo transcription and translation, PTMs would be expected to be the primary mechanism of protein change. But these posttranslational modifications of cellular proteins, that govern physiology of protein interactions and become deranged in disease, cannot be portrayed by gene expression alone. The key technology in this field is mass spectrometry with some recent methodological improvements, allowing the characterization and localisation of many modifications in a single step, although PTMs still provide a major challenge [112,156]. MS is complemented by a number of traditional biochemical techniques (e.g. Edman sequencing, periodic acid/Schiff staining, enzymatic deglycosylation, immunological methods), but they are individually geared towards identifying only one form of PTM [7].

Of several hundreds of known PTMs about 25 are more common, like phosphorylation, acetylation, methylation, palmitoylation, lipoylation, glycosylation or proteolysis [157]. Several web-based software tools are available, which predict PTMs on the basis of mass differences between empirical and theoretical peptide mass fingerprinting data (e.g. FindMod [157], BOLD, NetPhos and GlucoSuite [7]). Phosphorylated proteins, which often indicate activation or deactivation, can be identified by radiolabelling of cells with ³²P, enzymatic dephosphorylation, or the use of antibodies specific for phosphorylated protein variants or phosphorylated amino acids [7,158]. Virtually all known cellular signalling pathways are largely mediated through a complex cascade of reversible protein phosphorylation [159].

In the following some examples for the identification of PTMs in cardiac proteomics are presented.

For the identification of MLC1 proteolysis at amino acid residue 19, resulting from severe ischemia/reperfusion, Edman sequencing was successfully applied [160]. In the database of human right ventricular proteins of E.C. Müller and coworkers 1994 a phosphorylation of HSP27 and MLC2 and an acetylation of fatty acid binding protein were indicated, but without notification of any functional implications [46]. Some further examples of the identification of PTMs in cardiovascular diseases are the increase of the proportional volume of two out of three protein spots in pacing-induced canine DCM, which were interpreted as isoforms or possible phosphorylation shifts of these proteins [147]. A reduced phosphorylation of eucaryotic elongation factor-2 (eEF-2), a key protein of peptide-chain elongation, in adult rat ventricular cardiomyocytes (ARVC) in response to 15 ml treatment with insulin was reported. This parallelled an activation of overall protein synthesis [161]. On the other hand an increased phosphorylation of elongation factor-2 together with an inhibition of protein synthesis was demonstrated in ARVC after treatment with isoproterenol by the same group [162]. But these results were achieved with antibodies raised against phosphorylated EF-2 in one-dimensional SDS-PAGE without confirmation using classical proteomic tools so far.

Cardiac Troponin I (cTnT I), an important filament regulatory protein of the myocardium, is extensively post-translationally modified during acute injuries such as myocardial stunning and reversible ischemia/reperfusion. Both a cTnT I degradation pattern and the existence of phosphorylated cTnT I in the serum of patients with acute myocardial infarction was documented [163]. In these studies myofilament proteins were subfractionated and separated either by SDS–PAGE or HPLC, followed by MS analysis, as an alternative method to 2-DE. Proteolysis products of cTnT I were also found in myocardial biopsies of bypass-patients, which might reflect contractile dysfunction in stunned myocardium [164]. Recently the phosphorylation state of troponin I was reported to be reduced in failing myocardium using a monoclonal antibody and SDS– PAGE [165].

In their study of DCM associated proteins in human right ventricle Thiede et al. [20] were able to identify an acetylation of fatty acid binding protein. This was possible after introduction of a micro HPLC procedure, which separated peptides after tryptic digestion prior to MS. MALDI-MS analysis of the peptide mixture of an acidic spot in the group of MLC2 revealed a phosphorylation of serine 15 in this protein [20]. The differentiation of two dominant Hsp27 spots was again challenging: Whereas the mixture of peptides of both protein species yielded the same MS spectra, a mass difference of 80 in the micro-HPLC diagrams suggested a phosphate group in the more acidic Hsp27 spot [20].

A recent overview over the use of functional proteomics was focused on the signalling module hypothesis in cardioprotection: T.M. Vondriska and coworkers found, that ischemic preconditioning, induced by activation of PKC ε , is coupled with dynamic modulation and recruitment of PKC ε -associated proteins [78,82].

3.7. Special problems encountered with proteomics of human heart diseases

In analysing human myocardium the inhomogeneity of tissue composition, which includes variable proportions of fibrous tissue, lymphocytes, endocardium, smooth muscle cells and endothelial cells, must be taken into account as possible reasons for quantitative and qualitative changes in protein pattern, that must be differentiated from disease-associated patterns. In addressing these possibilities of sample artifacts Corbett et al. included electrophoretic separations of cultured endothelial and mesothelial cells and cardiac fibroblasts in their study [82]. It was stated that desmin or cardiac myosin were absent in these 2-DE patterns, and the contribution of the small cell population of arterioles to overall desmin levels was regarded to be negligible. On the other hand the intermediate filament protein vimentin, present in all the isolated cells, was detected only in trace amounts in the 2-DE patterns from myocardial protein extracts, so that protein changes of myocardial samples were regarded as disease-specific [82].

Moreover, in the clinical setting there is considerable inter-patient variability, which might hamper the detection of significant differences: Genetic variability, age, sex, metabolic state and medical therapy may result in variations of protein composition [52]. To reduce these effects as much as possible relatively homogeneous groups must be chosen, but, especially in diseases with a multifactorial pathogenesis like DCM, biomedical significance will only be obtained in large-scale investigations including several hundred samples [9]. The availability of these large numbers of samples is however limited [139]. Right atrial and right ventricular myocardium can be obtained easily during a catheterization of the low-pressure system [48], which is performed routinely and at low risk in many cardially affected patients. A left-ventricular biopsy, which is of higher interest for proteomic studies, should not be performed for research interests only, but must be embedded in diagnostic procedures based on clinical demands. Furthermore, the number of biopsies per patient is also limited from medical considerations. As the material of one or two left-ventricular biopsies of 3 to 5 mg tissue each is just sufficient for about 3 large-scale 2-DE gels, the study design must be well structured and the methodology of the laboratory has to be perfectly established.

4. Concluding remarks

Although the elucidation of an organism's genome is the first and most important step towards understanding its biology, and the data created by wholegenome sequencing have significant benefits in many fields outside those of genomics [110], the knowledge of the pure genome will never give full insight into the complex network of functioning proteins, because proteins are the final executors of the various response programs of a cell. 'The genomic instructions of life are written in the language of nucleic acids, but life is actually *lived* in the language of proteins' [166]. Especially transient information, like posttranslational modifications or interactions among proteins [167], cannot be deduced from DNA sequences alone. Although today we are only on the threshold of proteomics, proteomic studies are poised to enable our conception of proteins and their biological function to transcend to a level that has not been feasible with previous approaches [7,76].

But this does not have to be a contradiction to the paradigms of genetic research: Systematic analysis of the function of genes can take place at the oligo-nucleotide (functional genomics) or protein level (functional proteomics) [23,111,112,168]. The latter has the advantage of being closest to function.

Especially in the field of cardiovascular science exploitation of the wealth and information generated by genome research holds exciting prospects: With the aid of expressed sequence tag technology and microarray applications [18,23] both known and previously uncharacterized genes, involved in the induction and expression of cardiac hypertrophy and its progression to heart failure, can be analysed simultaneously. A preliminary database for a genome-wide analysis of complex polygenic disorders such as heart failure has been provided [18,22,23].

For cardiovascular research several directions seem to be most promising for the future:

(1) Hypothesis-driven research with careful selection of the specific features of a proteome or subproteome, that provides information about a particular cardiac disease, will complement hypothesis-free approaches. (2) Functional proteomics integrating the time course of protein change, including posttranslational modifications, should allow the reconstruction of the events arising from or leading to cardiovascular changes [7]. Proteomics has already revealed remarkable dynamic changes, that occur at the cellular level, exemplified by the signalling module hypothesis in PKCe mediated cardioprotection [88,92], the phosphorylation of MLCI in pharmacologically preconditioned cardiomyocytes [60], the disease-associated changes in cardiac Troponin T isoforms [137,138,164,165,169] or the impact of cardiomyopathy on the Hsp27 family [58].

(3) The direct analysis of peptides derived from crude protein mixtures [29,168], the analysis of large numbers of even intact proteins by MS, and isotopic labelling of proteins to obtain accurate quantitative data by MS [168] will provide further insights into the intricacies of proteome changes in cardiovascular disease [7] and during cardiac ageing. (4) The study of protein complexes and their spatial organization [39,78], of protein-protein interactions using techniques such as mass spectrometry or the yeast twohybrid system [42,43,111,167], or the investigation of signalling pathways [170], cellular organelles and compartments [38,40,41,65,71,74,76] will add to our understanding of the pathways of cardiac proteins. (5) As the investigation of human disease entities is complicated by tissue heterogeneity, disease complexity and stage, multimorbidity and age of patients, as well as drug interferences, animal models of human cardiac diseases or age-dependent changes, either transgenic, natural occurring or experimentally designed [52,147,148,150], which mirror e.g. human DCM [52,146–148], will forward our understanding of these disorders [8]. Recent proteomic analysis of neonatal rat cardiomyocytes treated with phenylephrine [52] or endothelin [154] to induce hypertrophic reactions, revealed specific changes of protein amounts.

As this integrated functional genomic/proteomic effort will not be easily amenable for a single laboratory, the feasibility of such studies will most likely require collaboration between laboratories, which are specialized to perform the associated technologies in a reproducible and high-throughput manner [7,24]. A parallel development of high-quality bioinformatic facilities, including the further development of disease- and species-specific databases, will be necessary to complement the armouries of proteomics. It is envisioned that proteomic investigations will eventually lead to novel diagnostic, prognostic or therapeutic markers that can be applied to cardiovascular diseases.

References

- [1] C.S. Baker, J.M. Corbett, A.J. May, M.H. Yacoub, M.J. Dunn, Electrophoresis 13 (1992) 723.
- [2] P. Jungblut, A. Otto, V. Regitz, E. Fleck, B. Wittmann-Liebold, Electrophoresis 13 (1992) 739.

- [3] J.C. Venter, M.D. Adams, E.W. Myers, P.W. Li, R.J. Mural et al., Science 291 (2001) 1304.
- [4] L. Anderson, J. Seilhamer, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 533.
- [5] S.P. Gygi, Y. Rochon, B.R. Franza, R. Aebersold, Mol. Cell Biol. 19 (1999) 1720.
- [6] R.E. Banks, M.J. Dunn, D.F. Hochstrasser, J.C. Sanchez, W. Blackstock, D.J. Pappin, P.J. Selby, The Lancet 356 (2000) 1749.
- [7] D.K. Arrell, I. Neverova, J.E. Van Eyk, Circ. Res. 88 (2001) 763.
- [8] M.J. Dunn, Drug Discov. Today 5 (2000) 76.
- [9] P.R. Jungblut, U. Zimny-Arndt, E. Zeindl-Eberhart, J. Strulik, K. Koupilova, K.P. Pleissner, A. Otto, E.C. Müller, W. Sokolowska-Köhler, G. Grabher, G. Stöffler, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 2100.
- [10] C. Scheler, E.C. Muller, J. Stahl, U. Müller-Werdan, J. Salnikow, P. Jungblut, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 2823.
- [11] P. Jungblut, B. Thiede, U. Zimny-Arndt, E.C. Muller, C. Scheler, B. Wittmann-Liebold, A. Otto, Electrophoresis 17 (1996) 839.
- [12] P.R. Jungblut, E.C. Muller, J. Mattow, S.H. Kaufmann, Infect. Immun. 69 (2001) 5905.
- [13] R.A. Van Bogelen, E.E. Schiller, J.D. Thomas, F.C. Neidhardt, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 2149.
- [14] J. Klose, Humangenetik 26 (1975) 231.
- [15] P.H. O'Farrell, J. Biol. Chem. 250 (1975) 4007.
- [16] P. Edman, Acta Chem. Scand. 4 (1950) 283.
- [17] D. Pappin, P. Hojrup, A.J. Bleasby, Curr. Biol. 3 (1993) 327.
- [18] M. Mann, M. Wilm, Anal. Chem. 66 (1994) 4390.
- [19] J. Klose, U. Kobalz, Electrophoresis 16 (1995) 1034.
- [20] B. Thiede, A. Otto, V. Zimny-Arndt, E.C. Muller, P. Jungblut, Electrophoresis 17 (1996) 588.
- [21] A. Otto, B. Thiede, E.C. Muller, C. Scheler, B. Wittmann-Liebold, P. Jungblut, Electrophoresis 17 (1996) 1643.
- [22] D.M. Hwang, A.A. Dempsey, R.X. Wang, M. Rezvani, J.D. Barrans, K.S. Dai, H.Y. Wang, H. Ma, E. Cukerman, Y.Q. Liu, J.R. Gu, J.H. Zhang, S.K.W. Tsui, M.M.Y. Waye, K.P. Fung, C.Y. Lee, C.C. Liew, Circulation 96 (1997) 4146.
- [23] J.J. Hwang, V.J. Dzau, C.C. Liew, Curr. Cardiol. Rep. 3 (2001) 198.
- [24] J. Macri, S.T. Rapundalo, Trends Cardiovasc. Med. 11 (2001) 66.
- [25] V.C. Wasinger, S.J. Cordwell, A. Cerpa-Poljak, J.X. Yan, A.A. Gooley, M.R. Wilkins, M.W. Duncan, R. Harris, K.L. Williams, I. Humphrey-Smith, Electrophoresis 16 (1995) 1090.
- [26] G. Haas, G. Karaali, K. Ebermayer, W.G. Metzger, S. Lamer, U. Zimny-Arndt, S. Diescher, U.B. Goebel, K. Vogt, A.B. Roznowski, B.J. Wiedenmann, T.F. Meyer, T. Aebischer, P.R. Jungblut. Proteomics 2002, in press.
- [27] P.A. Binz, M. Muller, D. Walther, W.V. Bienvenut, R. Gras, C. Hoogland, G. Bouchet, E. Gasteiger, R. Fabbretti, S. Gay, P. Palagi, M.R. Wilkins, V. Rouge, L. Tonella, Anal. Chem. 71 (1999) 4981.
- [28] A.J. Link, J. Eng, D.M. Schieltz, E. Carmack, G.J. Mize, D.R. Morris, B.M. Garvik, J.R. Yates III, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 676.

- [29] C.S. Spahr, S.A. Susin, E.J. Bures, J.H. Robinson, M.T. Davis, M.D. McGinley, G. Kroemer, S.D. Patterson, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 1635.
- [30] K. Senior, Mol. Med. 6 (2000) 450.
- [31] T.W. Hutchens, T.T. Yip, Rapid. Commun. Mass Spectrom. 7 (1993) 576.
- [32] H. Zhu, M. Bilgin, R. Bangham, D. Hall, A. Casamajor, P. Bertone, N. Lan, R. Jansen, S. Bidlingmaier, T. Houfek, T. Mitchell, P. Miller, R.A. Dean, M. Gerstein, M. Snyder, Science 293 (2001) 2101.
- [33] A. Lueking, M. Horn, H. Eickhoff, K. Büssow, H. Lehrach, G. Walter, Anal. Biochem. 270 (1999) 103.
- [34] H. Zhou, S. Roy, H. Schulman, M.J. Natan, Trends Biotechnol. 19 (2001) S34.
- [35] S. Kanno, Y. Yanagida, T. Haryama, E. Kobatake, M. Alzawa, J. Biotechnol. 76 (2000) 207.
- [36] B. Liu, J.D. Marks, Anal. Biochem. 286 (2000) 119.
- [37] A.D. Griffiths, A.R. Duncan, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 9 (1998) 102.
- [38] M.F. Lopez, B.S. Kristal, E. Chernokalskaya, A. Lazarev, A.I. Shestopalov, A. Bogdanova, M. Robinson, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 3427.
- [39] J. Rappsilber, S. Siniossoglou, E.C. Hurt, M. Mann, Anal. Chem. 72 (2000) 267.
- [40] G. Neubauer, A. King, J. Rappsilber, C. Calvio, M. Watson, P. Ajuh, J. Sleeman, A. Lamond, M. Mann, Nat. Genet. 20 (1998) 46.
- [41] J. Garin, R. Diez, S. Kieffer, J.F. Dermine, S. Duclos, E. Gagnon, R. Sadoul, C. Rondeau, M. Desjardins, J. Cell. Biol. 152 (2001) 165.
- [42] J.C. Rain, L. Selig, H. De Reuse, V. Battaglia, C. Reverdy, S. Simon, G. Lenzen, F. Petel, J. Wojcik, V. Schachter, Y. Chemama, A. Labigne, P. Legrain, Nature 409 (2001) 211.
- [43] P. Uetz, L. Giot, G. Cagney, T.A. Mansfield, R.S. Judson, J.R. Knight, D. Lockshon, V. Narayan, M. Sriivasan, P. Pochart, A. Qureshi-Emili, Y. Li, B. Godwin, D. Conover, T. Kalbfleisch, G. Vijayadamodar, M. Yang, M. Johnston, S. Fields, J.M. Rothberg, Nature 403 (2000) 623.
- [44] S.P. Gygi, B. Rist, S.A. Gerber, F. Turecek, M.H. Gelb, R. Aebersold, Nat. Biotechnol. 17 (1999) 994.
- [45] P. Jungblut, A. Otto, E. Zeindl-Eberhart, K.P. Pleissner, M. Knecht, V. Regitz-Zagrosek, E. Fleck, B. Wittmann-Liebold, Electrophoresis 15 (1994) 685.
- [46] E.C. Müller, B. Thiede, U. Zimny-Arndt, C. Scheler, J. Prehm, U. Müller-Werdan, B. Wittmann-Liebold, A. Otto, P. Jungblut, Electrophoresis 17 (1996) 1700.
- [47] J.M. Corbett, C.H. Wheeler, C.S. Baker, M.H. Yacoub, M.J. Dunn, Electrophoresis 15 (1994) 1459.
- [48] M. Knecht, V. Regitz-Zagrosek, K.P. Pleissner, P. Jungblut, A. Hildebrandt, E. Fleck, Eur. Heart J. 15 (1994) 37.
- [49] K.P. Pleissner, S. Sander, H. Oswald, V. Regitz-Zagrosek, E. Fleck, Electrophoresis 17 (1996) 1386.
- [50] M. Knecht, V. Regitz-Zagrosek, K.-P. Pleissner, S. Emig, P. Jungblut, A. Hildebrandt, E. Fleck, Eur. J. Clin. Chem. Clin. Biochm. 32 (1994) 615.
- [51] C.W. Sutton, K.S. Pemberton, J.S. Cortrell, C.H. Wheeler, M.J. Dunn, D.J. Pappin, Electrophoresis 16 (1995) 308.

- [52] D. Arnott, K.L. O'Connell, K.L. King, J.T. Stults, Anal. Biochem. 258 (1998) 1.
- [53] T. Rabilloud, Electrophoresis 17 (1996) 813.
- [54] T. Rabilloud, Methods Mol. Biol. 112 (1999) 9, Review.
- [55] B. Herbert, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 660.
- [56] L.A. Huber, FEBS Lett. 369 (1995) 122.
- [57] J. Klose, M. Feller, Electrophoresis 2 (1981) 12.
- [58] C. Scheler, X.P. Li, J. Salnikow, M.J. Dunn, P.R. Jungblut, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 3623.
- [59] D.K. Arrell, I. Neverova, H. Fraser, E. Markin, J.E. Van Eyk, Circ. Res. 89 (2001) 480.
- [60] M.J. Walsh, L. Limos, W.W. Tourtellotte, J. Neurochem. 43 (1984) 1277.
- [61] B.A. Lollo, S. Harvey, J. Liao, A.C. Stevens, R. Wagenknecht, R. Sayen, J. Whaley, F.G. Sajjadi, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 654.
- [62] M.P. Molloy, B.R. Herbert, B.J. Walsh, M.I. Tyler, M. Traini, J.C. Sanchez, D.F. Hochstrasser, K.L. Williams, A.A. Gooley, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 837.
- [63] R.C. Iannello, P.L. Jeffrey, Exp. Neurol. 108 (1990) 156.
- [64] M. Chevallet, V. Santoni, A. Poinas, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 1901.
- [65] J. Macri, B. McGee, J.N. Thomas, P. Du, T.I. Stevenson, G.W. Kilby, S.T. Rapundalo, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 1685.
- [66] M.P. Molloy, Anal. Biochem. 280 (2000) 1.
- [67] V. Santoni, M. Molloy, T. Rabilloud, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 1054.
- [68] A.S. Nouwens, S.J. Cordwell, M.R. Larsen, M.P. Molloy, M. Gillings, M.D. Willcox, B.J. Walsh, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 3797.
- [69] A.W. Bell, M.A. Ward, W.P. Blackstock, H.N.M. Freeman, J.S. Choudhary, A.P. Lewis, D. Chotai, A. Fazel, J.N. Gushue, J. Paiement, S. Palcy, E. Chevet, M. Lafreniere-Roula, R. Solari, D.Y. Thomas, A. Rowley, J.J.M. Bergeroni, J. Biol. Chem. 276 (2001) 5152.
- [70] E. Kaltschmidt, H.G. Wittmann, Anal. Biochem. 36 (1970) 401.
- [71] G.J. Opiteck, S.M. Ramirez, J.W. Jorgenson, M.A. Moseley, Anal. Biochem. 258 (1998) 349.
- [72] S.D. Patterson, Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 11 (2000) 413.
- [73] P.R. Jungblut, U. Zimny-Arndt, J. Klose, Electrophoresis 10 (1989) 464.
- [74] T. Manabe, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 3116.
- [75] P.R. Jungblut, J. Klose, Biochem. Genet. 23 (1985) 227.
- [76] E.C. Koc, W. Burkhart, K. Blackburn, H. Koc, A. Moseley, L.L. Spremulli, Protein Sci. 10 (2001) 471.
- [77] P.R. Jungblut, J. Prehm, J. Klose, Biol. Chem. (Hoppe-Seyler) 368 (1987) 439.
- [78] T.M. Vondriska, J.B. Klein, P. Ping, Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 280 (2001) H1434.
- [79] A. Gorg, C. Obermaier, G. Boguth, A. Harder, B. Scheibe, R. Wildgruber, W. Weiss, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 1037.
- [80] A. Gorg, W. Weiss, Methods Mol. Biol. 112 (1999) 189.
- [81] S.P. Gygi, G.L. Corthals, Y. Zhang, Y. Rochon, R. Aebersold, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 17 (2000) 9390.

- [82] J.M. Corbett, H.J. Why, C.H. Wheeler, P.J. Richardson, L.C. Archard, M.H. Yacoub, M.J. Dunn, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 2031.
- [83] J.M. Corbett, C.H. Wheeler, M.J. Dunn, Electrophoresis 16 (1995) 1524.
- [84] S.M. Hanash, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 1202.
- [85] B. Bjellqvist, K. Ek, P.G. Righetti, E. Gianazza, A. Gorg, R. Westermeier, W. Postel, J. Biochem. Biophys. Methods 6 (1982) 317.
- [86] M.J. Dunn, Adv. Electrophoresis 1 (1987) 1.
- [87] A. Görg, G. Boguth, C. Obermaier, A. Posch, W. Weiss, Electrophoresis 16 (1995) 1079.
- [88] J.C. Sanchez, V. Rouge, M. Pisteur, F. Ravier, L. Tonella, M. Moosmayer, M.R. Wilkins, D.F. Hochstrasser, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 324.
- [89] N.G. Anderson, N.L. Anderson, Anal. Biochem. 85 (1978) 301.
- [90] A.L. McCormack, D.M. Schieltz, B. Goode, S. Yang, G. Barnes, D. Drubin, J.R. Yates, Anal. Chem. 69 (1997) 767.
- [91] P. Hoffmann, H. Ji, R.L. Moritz, L.M. Connolly, D.F. Frecklington, M.J. Layton, J.S. Eddes, R.J. Simpson, Proteomics 1 (2001) 807.
- [92] P. Ping, J. Zhang, W.M. Pierce, R. Bolli, Circ. Res. 88 (2001) 59.
- [93] C.K. Damer, J. Partridge, W.R. Pearson, T.A. Haystead, J. Biol. Chem. 273 (1998) 24396.
- [94] R.W. Nelson, D. Nedelkov, K.A. Tubbs, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 1155.
- [95] D. Jager, C. Seliger, N.T. Redpath, I. Friedrich, R.E. Silber, K. Ponicke, K. Werdan, U. Müller-Werdan, Heterogeneity of cardiac rat and human elongation factor 2, Electrophoresis 21 (13) (2000) 2729.
- [96] B.D. Hames, in: B.D. Hames, D. Richwood (Eds.), Gel Electrophoresis of Proteins: A Practical Approach, Oxford University Press, New York, 1990, pp. 51–85.
- [97] T. Rabilloud, Methods Mol. Biol. 112 (1999) 297.
- [98] H. Blum, H. Beier, H.J. Gross, Electrophoresis 8 (1987) 93.
- [99] D.F. Hochstrasser, A. Patchanik, C.R. Merril, Anal. Biochem. 173 (1988) 412.
- [100] J.X. Yan, R. Wait, T. Berkelman, R.A. Harry, J.A. Westbrook, C.H. Wheeler, M.J. Dunn, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 3666.
- [101] W.F. Patton, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 1123.
- [102] M. Unlu, M.E. Morgan, J.S. Minden, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 2071.
- [103] M. Quandroni, P. James, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 480.
- [104] K. Gevaert, J. Vanderkerckhove, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 1145.
- [105] S.D. Patterson, Anal. Biochem. 221 (1994) 1.
- [106] J.X. Yan, M.R. Wilkins, K. Ou, A.A. Gooley, K.L. Williams, J.C. Sanchez, O. Golaz, C. Pasquali, D.F. Hochstrasser, J. Chrom. A 736 (1996) 291.
- [107] P. Edman, G. Begg, Eur. J. Biochem. 1 (1967) 80.
- [108] R.H. Aebersold, J. Leavitt, R.A. Saavedra, L.E. Hood, S.B. Kent, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84 (1987) 6970.
- [109] S.D. Patterson, R. Aebersold, Electrophoresis 16 (1995) 1791.

- [110] J.R. Yates III, Trends Genet. 16 (2000) 5.
- [111] A. Pandey, M. Mann, Nature 405 (2000) 837.
- [112] M. Mann, R.C. Hendrickson, A. Pandey, Ann. Rev. Biochem. 70 (2001) 437.
- [113] P. Jungblut, B. Thiede, Mass Spectrom. Rev. 16 (1997) 145.
- [114] G.L. Corthals, S.P. Gygi, R. Aebersold, S.D. Patterson, in: T. Rabilloud (Ed.), Proteome Research: Two-Dimensional Gel Electrophoresis and Identification Methods, Springer, Berlin, 2000, pp. 197–227.
- [115] K. Gevaert, J. Vanderkerckhove, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 1145.
- [116] J.K. Eng, A.L. McCormack, J.R. Yates III, J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 11 (1994) 976.
- [117] K. Gevaert, J.L. Verschelde, M. Puype, J. Van Damme, M. Goethals, S. De Boeck, J. Vanderkerckhove, Electrophoresis 17 (1996) 918.
- [118] K.P. Pleissner, S. Sander, H. Oswald, V. Regitz-Zagrosek, E. Fleck, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 480.
- [119] G. Evans, C.H. Wheeler, J.M. Corbett, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 471.
- [120] M.J. Dunn, J.M. Corbett, C.H. Wheeler, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 2795.
- [121] L.I. Kovalyov, S.S. Shishkin, A.S. Efimochkin, M.A. Kovalyova, E.S. Ershova, T.A. Egorov, A.K. Musalyamov, Electrophoresis 16 (1995) 1160.
- [122] R.D. Appel, A. Bairoch, J.C. Sanchez, J.R. Vargas, O. Golaz, C. Pasquali, D.T. Hochstrasser, Electrophoresis 17 (1996) 540.
- [123] X.P. Li, K.P. Pleissner, C. Scheler, V. Regitz-Zagrosek, J. Salnikow, P.R. Jungblut, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 891.
- [124] J.M. Corbett, C.H. Wheeler, H.J.F. Why, P.J. Richardson, M.H. Yacoub, M.J. Dunn, J. Mol. Cell Cardiol 27 (1995) A110.
- [125] K.P. Pleissner, P. Soding, S. Sander, H. Oswald, M. Neuß, V. Regitz-Zagrosek, E. Fleck, Electrophoresis 18 (1999) 802.
- [126] F. Follath, J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. 33 (Suppl. 3) (1999) S31.
- [127] C.M. Schannwell, F.C. Schoebel, R. Marx, G. Plehn, M. Leschke, B.E. Strauer, Z. Kardiol. 90 (2001) 269.
- [128] C. Mittmann, T. Eschenhagen, H. Scholz, Cardiovasc. Res. 39 (1998) 267.
- [129] M. Bohm, P. Gierschik, K.H. Jakobs, B. Pieske, P. Schnabel, M. Ungerer, E. Erdmann, Circulation 82 (1990) 1249.
- [130] O.E. Brodde, Pharmacol. Rev. 43 (1991) 203.
- [131] E.D. Pagani, A.A. Alousi, A.M. Grant, T.M. Older, S.W. Dziuban, P.D. Allen, Circ. Res. 63 (1988) 380.
- [132] A. Otto, R. Benndorf, B. Wittmann-Liebold, P. Jungblut, J. Prot. Chem. 13 (1994) 478.
- [133] A.A. Knowlton, S. Kapadia, G. Torre-Amione, J.B. Durand, R. Bies, J. Young, D.L. Mann, J. Mol. Cell. Card. 30 (1998) 811.
- [134] A.A. Knowlton, J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 27 (1995) 121.
- [135] K.P. Pleissner, V. Regitz-Zagrosek, C. Weise, M. Neuß, B. Krüdewagen, P. Söding, K. Buchner, F. Huche, A. Hildebrandt, E. Fleck, Electrophoresis 16 (1995) 841.

- [136] L. Dalla-Libera, P. Pauletto, D. Piccolo, G. Scannapieco, G. Vescovo, Basic Res. Cardiol. 86 (1991) 70.
- [137] P.A. Anderson, N.N. Malouf, A.E. Oakeley, E.D. Pagani, P.D. Allen, Basic Res. Cardiol. 87 (1992) 117.
- [138] P.A. Anderson, N.N. Malouf, A.E. Oakeley, E.D. Pagani, P.D. Allen, Circ. Res. 69 (5) (1991) 1226.
- [139] V.B. Patel, J.M. Corbett, M.J. Dunn, U.R. Winrow, B. Portmann, P.J. Richardson, V.R. Preedy, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 2788.
- [140] R. Liao, L. Nascimben, J. Friedrich, J.K. Gwathmey, J.S. Ingwall, Circ. Res. 78 (1996) 893.
- [141] S.S. Margossian, H.D. White, J.B. Caulfield, P. Norton, S. Taylor, H.S. Slayter, Circulation 85 (1992) 1720.
- [142] N. Latif, C.S. Baker, M.J. Dunn, M.L. Rose, P. Brady, M.H. Yacoub, J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 22 (5) (1993) 1378.
- [143] C.H. Wheeler, A. Collins, M.J. Dunn, S.J. Crisp, M.H. Yacoub, M.L. Rose, J. Heart Lung Transplant. 14 (1995) S 188.
- [144] N. Latif, M.L. Rose, M.H. Yacoub, M.J. Dunn, J. Heart Lung Transplant. 14 (1995) 119.
- [145] G. Sutsch, U.T. Brunner, C. von Schulthess, H.O. Hirzel, O.M. Hess, M. Turina, H.P. Krayenbuehl, M.C. Schaub, Circ. Res. 70 (1992) 1035.
- [146] M.Y. Heinke, C.H. Wheeler, D. Chang, R. Einstein, A. Drake-Holland, M.J. Dunn, C.G. dosRemedios, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 2021.
- [147] M.Y. Heinke, C.H. Wheeler, J.X. Yan, V. Amin, D. Chang, R. Einstein, M.J. Dunn, C.G. dosRemedios, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 2086.
- [148] J. Weekes, C.H. Wheeler, J.X. Yan, J. Weil, T. Eschenhagen, G. Scholtysik, M.J. Dunn, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 898.
- [149] M.L. Field, J.F. Clark, Cardiovasc. Res. 33 (1997) 8.
- [150] V.B. Patel, G. Sandhu, J.M. Corbett, M.J. Dunn, L.M. Rodrigues, J.R. Griffiths, W. Wassif, R.A. Sherwood, P.J. Richardson, V.R. Preedy, Electrophoresis 21 (2000) 2454.
- [151] T. Srihari, C.R. Tuchsemid, M.C. Schaub, Basic Res. Cardiol. 77 (1982) 599.
- [152] C. He, U. Müller, W. Oberthur, K. Werdan, Electrophoresis 13 (1992) 748.
- [153] C. He, U. Müller, K. Werdan, Electrophoresis 13 (1992) 755.
- [154] J. Macri, T. Dubay, D. Matteson, J. Mol. Cell. Cardiol. 32 (2000) A60.
- [155] J. Portig, S. Pankuweit, F. Lottspeich, B. Maisch, Electrophoresis 17 (1996) 803.
- [156] K. Hakansson, M.R. Emmett, C.L. Hendrickson, A.G. Marshall, Anal. Chem. 73 (2001) 3605.
- [157] M.R. Wilkins, E. Gasteiger, A.A. Gooley, B.R. Herbert, M.P. Molloy, P.A. Binz, K. Ou, J.O. Sanchez, A. Bairoch, K.L. Williams, D. Hochstrasser, J. Mol. Biol. 289 (1999) 645.
- [158] Y. Oda, T. Nagasu, B.T. Chait, Nat. Biotechnol. 19 (2001) 379.
- [159] D.W. Meek, Cell Signal 10 (1998) 159.
- [160] J.E. Van Eyk, F. Powers, W. Law, C. Larue, R.S. Hodges, R.J. Solaro, Circ. Res. 82 (1998) 261.
- [161] L. Wang, X. Wang, C.G. Proud, Am. J. Physiol. Heart Circ. Physiol. 278 (2000) H1056.

- [162] L.E. McLeod, L. Wang, C.G. Proud, FEBS Lett. 489 (2001) 225.
- [163] R. Labugger, L. Organ, C. Collier, D. Atar, J.E. Van Eyk, Circulation 102 (2000) 1221.
- [164] J.L. McDonough, R. Labugger, W. Pickett, M.Y. Tse, S. MacKenzie, D. Pa Atar, G. Ropchan, J.E. Van Eyk, Circulation 103 (2001) 58.
- [165] G.S. Bodor, A.E. Oakeley, P.D. Allen, D.L. Crimmins, J.H. Ladenson, Circulation 96 (5) (1997) 1495.
- [166] S.I.S. Rattan, Exp. Gerontol. 31 (1996) 33.
- [167] F. Rudert, L. Ge, L.L. Ilag, Biotechnol. Ann. Rev. 5 (2000) 45.
- [168] J.S. Andersen, M. Mann, FEBS Lett. 480 (2000) 25.
- [169] J.E. Van Eyk, A.M. Murphy, Coron. Artery Dis. 12 (2001) 343.
- [170] J. Godovac-Zimmermann, V. Soskic, S. Poznanovic, F. Brianza, Electrophoresis 20 (1999) 952.